02/25/2019

# Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

#### Case Number: DA 18-0555

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 18-0555

ESTATE OF ROBERT SEVERSON,

Appellant,

VS

LYNN SEVERSON, SEVERSON FAMILY MINERAL TRUST, STOCKMAN BANK OF PLENTYWOOD, INC., AND DOES 1 THROUGH 10, INCLUSIVE,

Appellees.

### **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

On Appeal from the

Montana Fifteenth Judicial District Court, Sheridan County
The Honorable Katherine Bidegaray Presiding

### **COUNSEL OF RECORD:**

For Appellant:

Phillip J. DeFelice, Attorney At Law, P.O. Box 81, Saint Marie, Montana, 59231-0081

For Respondents Lynn Severson and Severson Family Mineral Trust:

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Estate of Robert Severson, Plaintiff, brought this action in the district court seeking a money judgment plus interest against the Defendants. The Defendants filed motions for summary judgment which were granted by the district court. Defendants Lynn Severson and the Severson Family Mineral Trust also filed for Rule 11 sanctions that was also granted by the district court. As a result of the

Rule 11 sanctions, the district court awarded the Defendant Lynn Severson attorney fees. From these orders, the Estate of Robert Severson appeals.

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Most of the pertinent facts are set forth in the preceding Statement of the Case and the rest can be summarized quite briefly.

Robert Severson died on September 21, 2015. Approximately, three years before his death, Robert suffered a stroke, heart attack, Parkinson's disease and his brother Lynn Severson, managed Robert Severson's financial affairs due to Robert's failing health. See Kelly Ross Affidavit Page 1 (Supp Appx Tab 8), Frank Piocos Affidavit Para 2 (Supp Appx Tab 9), Lynn Severson Affidavit P1 L25-P2 L1. (Supp Appx Tab 10)

The Plaintiff, the Estate of Robert Severson, during the probate process, discovered that Defendant Lynn Severson failed to obtain a power of attorney from his brother (see record Lynn S. Depo Page 8 lines 22-24), used his brother's funds for his own personal use (see checks attached to Estate's Brief Objecting to Summary Judgment located in Supp Appx behind Affidavit of F.Piocos Tab 9), obtained a personal loan from Stockman's Bank of Plentywood using Robert's name (see Supp Appx Tab 6 Lynn. S. Depo Ex. N), had Robert designate him as the sole beneficiary of his IRA account (see Supp Appx Tab 13 Lynn S. Affidavit

Ex G), and designate him a joint owner and sole beneficiary of Robert's savings and checking accounts. See Lynn S. Aff. attachment Ex "D" and F. Piocos Aff. Para 9 and 19. In addition, that the Defendant Severson Family Mineral Trust failed to make distributions in accordance with the trust and that the Severson Family Mineral Trust failed to provide Robert Severson and his estate timely requested and required documentation. See Affidavit of Kelly Ross pages 1-2, Affidavit of F. Piocos paragraphs 10, 11, 13 and 19. In addition, that defendant Stockman Bank of Plentywood approved a loan in Robert Severson's name when they knew or should have known that Lynn Severson or some other person used Robert's signature on a loan document. See Supp Appx Tab 6 L.S. Depo Ex. N.

All defendants filed a motion for summary judgment. (See motions for Summary Judgment of Defendant Stockman Bank, and Defendant Lynn Severson and Severson Family Mineral Trust) Defendant Lynn Severson and Severson Family Mineral Trust also filed for Rule 11 sanctions and for attorney fees. (See record Defendant's Motion for Rule 11 Sanctions, and Supp Appx last item) The district court granted Defendants' motions for summary judgment. (See record orders of June 12, and June 13, Appendix Tabs 1-2) The district court dismissed the sanctions and attorney's fees when Severson's attorney failed to appear for hearing and then upon motion of Severson reversed itself. (See record bench order July 13, and Order of August 10 Appx. Tab 3) Then the district court granted

sanctions and attorney's fees against Plaintiff and its attorneys of record. See record order of September 19, Appendix Tab 4) This appeal followed.

### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard review in a district court's summary judgment ruling is de novo. (using same Rule 56, M.R.Civ.P. criteria as the district court. *Montana Metal Buildings, Inc. v. Shapiro* (1997) citing (*Clark v. Eagle Systems, Inc.*) (Mont. 1996), 927 P.2d 995, 997, 53 St.Rep. 1150, 1151 (citations omitted).

The standard of review for Rule 11 sanctions is abuse of discretion. *Shull v. First Interstate Bank*, (1994), 269. Mont. 32, 39, 87 P.2d 193, 197.

### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in granting summary judgment as there were genuine issues of material fact, including but not limited to: when the statute of limitations started, who signed the loan document (Tab 6), whether the decedent Robert Severson properly executed the "Account Agreement" in favor of his brother Lynn, and if Lynn's actions constituted breach of trust.

II. The district court invaded the province of the trier of fact, and applied the wrong statutes when it granted summary judgment and dismissed Plaintiff's

Complaint based upon statute of limitations, ignoring Lynn Severson's breach of trust, and other issues of material fact.

The district erred in granting sanctions under Rule 11 as Plaintiff's

Complaint was filed in good faith, and without a wilfull violation. In doing so the

District court ignored Lynn Severson's breach of trust, and other material facts in

dispute.

### VI. ARGUMENT

- I. Whether the district court erred in granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment.
  - a. There were genuine issues of material fact.
- II. Whether the Plaintiff's claims were barred by the statute of limitations?
- III. Whether the district court erred in granting sanctions.

# I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Rule 56(c), M.R.C.P., provides, in pertinent part, that [t]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Id*.

- II. Summary judgment is an extreme remedy which should never be substituted for a trial if a material factual controversy exists. *Clark*, 927P.2d at 997 (citations omitted).
- III. The party seeking summary judgment must establish, in light of the pleadings and other evidence before the court, the absence of any genuine issue of material fact which would allow the nonmoving party to recover and entitlement to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* at 997-8. (citations omitted). If, but only if, the party seeking summary judgment meets this burden, the nonmoving party must come forward with substantial and material evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact. Id. at 998. (citation omitted). "[A]ll reasonable inferences that might be drawn from the offered evidence should be drawn in favor of the party who opposed summary judgment Id.

### **LOAN DOCUMENTS:**

At this deposition, Defendant Lynn Severson was asked whose signatures were on the loan documents? (Another issue of obfuscation by the Defendant Lynn Severson.)

BY MR. DEFELICE:

Q. I want to follow up on Exhibit N. I will try to be as brief as possible. I'm showing you Exhibit N again, and on the second page there's a signature. Do you recognize the handwriting?

A, That's mine. Yeah, I was looking at this before, kind of looked like my writing in a way.

- Q. What's the date?
- A. In '12 he bought something, what was it?
- Q. What would be the date on the loan there on the one?
- A. 9-17 of 2012.
- Q. And ah, I'm going to show you page two and the first page of M.
- A. You know, this is Robert's signature here.
- Q. And what was the date on. . .
- A. 11-5 of 2012.
- Q. Okay, so that was about ah, a month, about three weeks after the other document?
- A. See ah, this has kind got me confused here. Well, we get some copies and the bank will can probably figure some of this out.

MS. CHRISTOFFERSEN: Just for the record, I'm not sure Lynn you would be able to get copies of these documents because they are clearly in Robert's name alone.

A. (By Deponent) Yeah, it's possible.

MR. PIOCOS: Did you notice that the signature differences?

A. Yeah, that's ...

MR. PIOCOS: What's the difference between the signatures?

A. This one kind of looks half way like mine with the S you know.

Unless someone else?

MR PIOCOS: What about the other one?

A. This is definitely Robert.

MR PIOCOS: With the one that's definitely Robert's, what Exhibit is that?

A. Exhibit M most definitely.

MS. CHRISTOFFERSEN: Exhibit M?

A. (By Deponent) Yep, that's definitely Robert's no question. This one, 15 I just . . . Page 40, Line 13-

It is important to note that none of the Defendants admit or deny whether Lynn Severson signed his brother's name on the loan document (referenced as Exhibit N in the deposition transcripts and is attached to Plaintiff's Objection to Summary Judgment as Exhibit 10, and affidavit's of Stockman's Bank employees attached Stockman's Bank Motion for Summary Judgment. This is another factual dispute for the trier of fact.

"In the fall of 2012 Robert Severson entered into two loans with Stockman Bank . . . "p. 3, Line 7 of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. This is disputed by the Plaintiff. It's Plaintiff's contention that Robert Severson only entered into one of these loans with Stockman Bank. And that Lynn Severson signed his brother's name on the other loan. The Defendants' wiggle around this issue several times in their Motion for Summary Judgment and it's mindboggling. Defendants seem to deny early in their brief that Lynn Severson signed a loan document using his brother's name and then:

"In this particular instance, Lynn Severson does not recall signing the promissory note for \$15,075, but does not deny he may have." P.11, Line 21 of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. "It is disputed who signed the loan." p.3, Line 10 of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. This is a genuine issue of material fact.

Defendants (Severson) refers to Section 30-3-404, M.C.A. on page 12 of their Motion for Summary Judgment but doesn't recite it. Section 30-3-404(1), M.C.A. provides in pertinent part: "Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, an unauthorized signature is ineffective except as the signature of the unauthorized signer in favor of a person who in good faith pays the instrument or takes it for value." Stockman's Bank did not act in good faith, the bank knew Lynn Severson. knew Robert Severson, and were aware of what their signatures looked like. Stockman's Bank could have just looked at the signature cards or even the signature differences on the loan documents. Section 30-3-404, M.C.A. does not apply as it doesn't absolve the Defendants from civil or criminal liability. See Section 30-3-404(3), M.C.A. Subsection (3) provides: "The civil and criminal liability of a person who makes an unauthorized signature is not affected by any provision of this chapter..." See, Section 30-3-404, M.C.A. Defendants are not even willing to admit that is was an "unauthorized signature" and therefore should be estopped from arguing such. Defendants have provided no proof that Robert Severson signed the loan document in question. In addition, there is no proof that Robert Severson even knew about the loan in question. So how could he have objected? Again, Plaintiff's Exhibit 1attached to Plaintiff's Objection to Summary Judgment establishes that Lynn Severson paid back the loan with Robert Severson's money. This also begs the question why were there two separate loans

when either Robert or Lynn Severson could have just got one loan for a larger amount? Plaintiff argues that Robert Severson received the liability for the loan. But Lynn Severson received the benefit of the loan.

Based upon the foregoing, none of the three elements the Defendants argued in page 14, citing *Safeco*, 200 Mont. at 453, 652, P.2d at 1163, of their motion for summary judgment are satisfied.

"On December 31, 2012 after receipt of final mineral trust payment the loans were repaid in full from Robert's Severson's Account." P. 3, Line 17, of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiff agrees with this statement. However, the loans were re-paid on December 19, 2012, not December 31, 2012. See Exhibit 1attached to Plaintiff's Objection to Summary Judgment. December 19, 2012, was also the mineral trust check date. This check was not endorsed by the payee Robert Severson. See Exhibit A attached to Gary Nelson's Affidavit in support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Defendants (Severson) argue that Lynn Severson was joint owner right of survivorship and a beneficiary designation. Defendant's Sum Judgment Motion p. 4, Line 16. This is also disputed by the Plaintiff, as Robert did not initial the "Beneficiary Designation" Lynn did. Robert Severson passed away in September of 2015. Even if Lynn Severson had a valid right of survivorship and beneficiary

designation he had no right to transfer assets to himself before Robert Severson's death. Robert Severson could have changed the right of survivorship and beneficiary designation any time before his death. In addition, due to undue influence and that the documents were not properly initialed the validity of said documents is in question.

"Robert Severson received the benefit of the two promissory notes taken out in his name . ." p. 4. Line 9 of the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. This is also disputed by the Plaintiff. Robert Severson could have used his other accounts to pay any alleged expenses rather than take out a loan. It is Plaintiff's contention that Lynn Severson did not want to use Robert Severson's other accounts to pay expenses as Lynn Severson thought he would receive the funds from these accounts after Robert Severson's death. Therefore, Plaintiff contends that Lynn Severson did not want these accounts to pay expenses. Lynn Severson did in fact empty these accounts shortly after Robert Severson's death. In addition, it is also Plaintiff's contention that Lynn Severson used some of the proceeds from the loan (not signed by Robert Severson) for Lynn Severson's own benefit then Lynn Severson used the proceeds Robert Severson received from the mineral trust to pay back both notes. Lynn Severson did get the benefit of these proceeds. See, Exhibits 2-7, (checks) attached Plaintiff's attached to Plaintiff's Objection to Summary Judgment.

Robert did not object and paid back both loans." p. 10, Line 3 of
Defendants' (Severson) Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiff disputes this as
well. Lynn Severson signed the check paying back both loans. See Plaintiff's
Exhibit 1 attached to Plaintiff's Objection to Summary Judgment.

There are genuine issues of material facts in this case. Therefore, the District court erred by granting summary judgment.

### **COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL**

Defendants (Severson), in their Motion for Summary Judgment, contend that one of the accounts in question was a joint account with a right of survivorship when it benefits them. See, Page 4, Line 16. Then argues on Page 9, Line 24, that it's Robert Severson's account when it doesn't benefit them. See, Page 9, Line 24, of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

In addition, Defendants argue that Robert Severson received the documents and knew what was going on. But then argue that Lynn Severson handled Robert Severson's business and financial affairs because "he was in tough shape." P. 11, Line 15 through 20, citing Lynn Severson's deposition Page 43, Line 21-26. It's either one or the other! Defendants should be collaterally estopped from making contradictory arguments such as these.

The bank records were also sent to Lynn Severson in Plentywood, Montana. At this time, Robert Severson resided in Saco, Montana. It is Plaintiff's contention that due to Robert Severson's health he could not take care of himself or manage his affairs the last three and a half years of his life. And that Lynn Severson exercised undue influence over his brother Robert Severson keeping him in the dark regarding operations of the Severson Family Trust and Hanks Wheat Ranch and even Robert Severson's personal finances. An example of this is seen in Mr. Nelson's Affidavit, Attachment C of their Motion for Summary Judgment, the IRS form K-1 shows it was sent to Hank's Wheat Ranch 100 Risa, Reserve, MT, rather than Saco, Montana, where Robert Severson resided. It is abundantly clear who is and who is not aware of what is happening to Robert Severson's finances. Another example of this is Lynn signing an IRS authorization form to file Robert's tax return! See Depo Exhibit "I." How is this even possible without a POA? This includes failure to provide documents to Robert Severson.

MS. CHRISTOFFERSEN: It's 20 after 12.

Q. (By Mr. Piocos) Do you want to break for lunch and he can do his thing and eat?

MS. CHRISTOFFERSEN: Well how long do you have left? Because I have other stuff to do this afternoon.

Q. (By Mr. Piocos) I'm guessing maybe another 45 minutes to an hour.

MS. CHRISTOFFERSEN: I'd rather keep going because.

A. (By Deponent) Where are you finding all these papers? (Emphasis added.)

MS. CHRISTOFFERSEN: Most of these are ones that we sent in response to their request. Deposition of Lynn Severson, Page 30, Line 22 to Page 31, Line 3

Defendants claim that Robert Severson was provided these documents. The above statements refute that claim and beg the question why would Lynn Severson ask, "Where are you finding all these papers?" When he allegedly, as Defendants' argue, provided these documents to Robert Severson while he was alive? In addition, why would the estate request documents they already had?

### PAROL EVIDENCE AND THE SIGNATURE CARDS

Plaintiff argues that to enforce a contract it has to be signed and initialed by the party who it is to be enforced against, which would be Robert Severson's interest. The account was originally Robert Severson's. Exhibit "D" of Lynn Severson's Affidavit is the account agreement in dispute. Defendants Lynn Severson and The Severson Family Mineral Trust argues that no Parol Evidence should be admitted. But then on Page 18 of their brief informs us that the bank will be supplementing the record. Then, in fact, Defendant Stockman's Bank attempts

to submit Parol Evidence in the form of affidavits from its employees in its Motion for Summary Judgment. It appears that Defendant Severson is making the Stockman's arguments so that the Bank can attempt to introduce parol evidence without risking being estopped from making the other part of the argument.

### **OTHER FACTUAL DISPUTES:**

Here are some of the other genuine issues of material fact in this case that all Defendants have failed to answer and would be addressed at jury trial:

- 1. Why is that The Severson Family Mineral Trust checks deposited in Robert Severson's sole account in Malta are endorsed by Robert Severson. But the mineral trust checks put into the Stockman account in Plentywood Lynn Severson claims to be joint owner and beneficiary on are not endorsed?
- 2. Why do the signatures not match on the loan documents?
  See deposition exhibits M, and N. Who signed Robert
  Severson's name regarding the September 2012 Promissory
  Note?

- 3. Why did Lynn Severson initial on Checking Account

  Authorization Card where Robert Severson was supposed to
  initial?
- 4. Why did Lynn Severson represent that he had a Power of Attorney (POA) for Robert Severson. But didn't.
- 5. Why is the mineral trust 2012 K-1 sent to 100 Risa Road in Reserve, Montana, when Robert Severson was residing in Saco, Montana, at that time?
- 6. Robert Severson has money in a Stockman IRA and Savings Account. But his checking account goes negative on October 3, 2014, until \$2,000 is transferred from savings on October 8, 2014.
- 7. Why were loans taken out (the two Promissory Notes) to pay alleged expenses when there were funds in his Savings Account and IRA? Both of which name Lynn Severson as beneficiary.
- 8. Why does a man (Robert) with two natural children and another adopted child who are struggling financially make his childless, bachelor, financially-well off brother beneficiary of an IRA, Savings, and Checking Account?

9. Did Lynn exert undue influence over Robert to obtain control and beneficiary status over the Stockman accounts? Are the beneficiary designations voidable because of undue influence?

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