#### No. DA 18-0555

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

ESTATE OF ROBERT LESTER SEVERSON,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

Lynn Severson, Severson Family Mineral Trust, Stockman Bank of Plentywood, Inc., and Does 1 through 10, Inclusive,

\*Defendants/Appellees.\*

ON APPEAL FROM THE MONTANA FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, SHERIDAN COUNTY, HON. KATHERINE BIDEGARAY, CASE NO. DV 46-2017-47

# DEFENDANT/APPELLEE STOCKMAN BANK OF MONTANA'S RESPONSE BRIEF

#### APPEARANCES:

William D. Lamdin, III Dylan D. Crouse Crowley Fleck PLLP P O Box 2529 Billings, MT 59103-2529 (406) 252-3441 blamdin@crowleyfleck.com dcrouse@crowleyfleck.com

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

- 1. The Deposit Agreement bars the Estate's claim against Stockman because the Seversons did not report any errors on the account within 60 days of receiving the account statement.
- 2. The Estate's claims are not within the one year statute of limitations provided by Mont. Code Ann. § 30-4-406, which requires account owners to report unauthorized transactions within one year.
- 3. The Estate's claims against Stockman are tort claims, and are not subject to the eight-year statute of limitations governing written documents. The Estate's tort claims are approximately a year late under the most generous application of the statutes of limitation.
- 4. Robert ratified the Loan. Montana law permits ratification under these circumstances, and Robert's actions meet the criteria for ratification because Robert accepted the benefits of the Loan, had full knowledge of the facts, and indicated an intention to adopt the arrangement.
- 5. Stockman did not conceal loan documents, and the statute of limitations was not tolled. The timeline of events does not support the Estate's allegations.
  - 6. The Estate's proposed material facts are irrelevant. The only facts

relevant to the Estate's claim against Stockman Bank are undisputed.

7. The Estate may not raise new arguments on appeal, as it attempts to do in its Opening Brief. The Court should reject these arguments.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The District Court Properly Granted Stockman's Motion for Summary Judgment
  - A. The Deposit Agreement Bars the Estate's Claim Against Stockman

The Appellant's opening brief does not address the Deposit Agreement or its applicability to the Estate's claims against Stockman. *See Appellant's Opening Brief*, S.C. The Deposit Agreement imposed an affirmative duty on the Seversons to report any unauthorized signatures, forgeries, or other errors on the account within 60 days of receiving the statement. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 5, Ex. A. Stockman mailed two bank statements that disclosed the deposit and repayment of the Loan to Robert in Saco, Montana. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶8, Ex. C. Pursuant to the terms of the Deposit Agreement, Robert had until December 4, 2012, or March 8, 2013, at the latest, to report the Loan as an unauthorized transaction. *See Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 5, Ex. A. Robert did not report any unauthorized transaction on the Severson Account. *Aff. Charlene* 

Hoskins, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 9. The complaint was filed on December 4, 2017, which is approximately five years too late. *Complaint*, D.C. Doc. 1, pg. 7.

### B. Montana Law Imposes An Affirmative Duty Upon the Account Owner to Report Unauthorized Transactions Within One Year

Mont. Code Ann. § 30-4-406 imposes an affirmative duty upon the Seversons to review their account statements and report any unauthorized transactions to Stockman. The two bank statements disclosing the deposit and repayment of the Loan were mailed to Robert in Saco, Montana. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶8, Ex. C. Robert had until October 5, 2013, or January 7, 2014, at the latest, to report any unauthorized transactions to Stockman. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 3-4-406, *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶8, Ex. C. Robert did not report any unauthorized transactions on the Severson Account. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶9. The complaint was filed on December 4, 2017, which is approximately four years too late. *Complaint*, D.C. Doc. 1, pg.7.

# C. The Estate's Claim is Time Barred under the Most Generous Statute of Limitations Permitted by Montana Law

The complaint alleges that Stockman "committed a tortious act in concert with" Lynn by breaching the implied covenant good faith and fair dealing. Compl., ¶ 26. The Estate's claim against Stockman sounds in tort, so the Appellant's citations to an eight-year statute of limitations for written instruments are

misleading. Compare Complaint, D.C. Doc. 1, ¶ 26 with Appellant's Opening Brief, S.C. pg. 21.

The correct statutes of limitations applicable to the Estate's claim are Mont. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-112, 27-2-204. Mont. Code Ann. § 30-4-112 applies a three-year period from the date the cause of action accrues. Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-404 may extend the limitations period, providing:

If a person entitled to bring an action dies before the expiration of the time limited for the commencement of the action and the cause of action survives, an action may be commenced by the deceased representatives after the expiration of that time and within 1 year from death.

Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-404.

The earliest date the Estate's alleged claim could have accrued against Stockman was September 17, 2012, the date the Loan was deposited into the Severson Account. *See Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 6. The latest date the Estate's claim could have accrued was January 7, 2013, the date that the account statement showed the Loan was repaid from the Severson Account. *See Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 8, Ex. C. Applied to the earliest date, the three-year period expired on September 17, 2015. *See* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-112, 27-2-204, *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 6. Applied to the latest date, the three-year period would expire on January 7, 2016, but, because Robert was deceased as of that date, Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-404 would extend the statute of limitations

until September 21, 2016. *See Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 8, Ex. C.; Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-404; *Appellant's Statement of Position*, S.C. pg. 8. The complaint was filed on December 4, 2017. *Complaint*, D.C. Doc. 1, pg.7. The Estate's claim is approximately one year too late under the most liberal application of the statute of limitations.

#### D. Robert Ratified the Loan

In Count VIII of the Complaint, the Estate alleges liability against Stockman for approving the Loan "based upon a forged signature," echoing the allegations against Lynn in Counts IV, V, and VI. *Complaint*, D.C. Doc. 1, pg. 6. Even assuming that Lynn forged Robert's signature, these Counts provide no basis for liability because Robert ratified the Loan.

Mont. Code Ann. § 30-3-404 deals with unauthorized signatures, and provides:

(1) Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, an unauthorized signature is ineffective except as the signature of the unauthorized signer in favor of a person who in good faith pays the instrument or takes it for value. An unauthorized signature may be ratified for all purposes of this chapter.

. . .

(3) The civil or criminal liability of a person who makes an unauthorized signature is not affected by any provision of this chapter that makes the unauthorized signature effective for the purposes of this chapter.

Referring to this section, Appellant appears to make two arguments against ratification: first that "Stockman's [sic] Bank did not act in good faith," and second that it "does not apply as it doesn't absolve the Defendants from civil or criminal liability." Appellant's Opening Brief, S.C. pg.13. Appellant's first argument is flawed because the question of good faith arises only when determining the liability of the unauthorized signor to the bank. Mont. Code Ann. § 30-3-404 (comment 2). Here, Lynn's liability to Stockman for the Loan is not in question, so Appellant's first argument is inapplicable. Appellant's second argument, citing Mont. Code Ann. § 30-3-404(3) does not apply to Stockman because Stockman is not "a person who makes an unauthorized signature." Appellant's arguments regarding ratification miss their mark.

Contrary to Appellant's arguments, Mont. Code Ann. § 30-3-404 permits ratification if the facts meet the case law requirements. Montana has not addressed ratification in the context of a promissory note, but approves of its use in contract cases, generally. *Audit Servs. Inc. v. Francis Tindall Constr.*, 183 Mont. 474, 600 P.2d 811 (1979). Ratification may occur in either an express oral manner or solely by means of personal conduct. *Id.* at 477. Ratification requires three elements: (1) acceptance of the principal of the benefits of the agent's act, (2) with full knowledge of the facts, and (3) circumstances or an affirmative election indicating an intention

to adopt the unauthorized arrangement. *Scott D. Erler, D.D.S. Profit Sharing Plan v. Creative Fin. & Investments, L.L.C.*, 2009 MT 36, ¶ 27, 349 Mont. 207, 217, 203 P.3d 744, 752 (citing *Safeco Ins. Co. v. Lovely Agency*, 200 Mont. 447, 652 P.2d 1160 (1982)). Ratification results in the ratifying party being bound by the contract, and operates upon the act ratified "precisely as though authority to do the act had been previously given." *Erler*, 349 Mont. at 217 (citing *Arnold v. Genzberger*, 96 Mont. 358, 31 P.2d 296 (1934).

Here, Robert ratified the Loan. Robert accepted the benefits of the Loan in September, 2012, when he received the Loan proceeds in his account. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 7. He had full knowledge because he received statements at his Saco, Montana address showing the Loan and its eventual repayment. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 8. Circumstances and Robert's own conduct show his intention to adopt the Loan: Robert repaid the loan at the same time and with the same check that he used to repay his other loan, and Robert never complained or challenged the enforceability of the Loan before or after repaying it. *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 7, 9. Robert's actions meet the criteria for ratification, and this Court could easily treat the Loan as though it was authorized at the outset. Accordingly, the Loan in itself cannot be a basis for liability against Stockman as the Appellant seems to claim.

#### E. Stockman Did Not Conceal the Loan Documents

The Estate wrongfully accuses Stockman of concealing the Loan documents. Appellant's Statement of Position, S.C. pg. 8. As a result of its error, the Estate incorrectly believes that statute of limitations was tolled under the discovery rule. *Id.* The statute of limitations is not tolled for the reasons previously briefed by Stockman. See Stockman Bank of Mont.'s Br. In Res. To Pl.'s Mot. Objecting to Summ. J., D.C. Doc. 35, pg. 4-6. Regardless, the timeline of events fails to support the Estate's allegations. Robert died on September 21, 2015. Appellant's Statement of Position, S.C. pg. 8. The Personal Representative of the Estate was appointed on October 26, 2015. Letters, In re Matter of the Estate of Robert Lester Severson (DP-36-2015-22) in Phillips County District Court. The Estate subpoenaed the records on or around November 12, 2015. Appellant's Statement of Position, S.C. pg. 8; Letters and Subpoena Duces tecum: Summons issued to Stockman Bank on 11/12/2015. Stockman produced the documents relied upon by the Estate in its complaint on December 10, 2015. Appellant's Statement of Position, S.C. pg. 8. As noted above, the most liberal application of the statute of limitations gave the Estate until September 21, 2016, to file a claim against Stockman. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-112, 27-2-204, 27-2-404; Aff. Charlene Hoskins, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 6. The Estate had 283 days to review the Loan documents in its possession and file a timely

Complaint under the most generous application of the statute of limitations. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-112, 27-2-204, 27-2-404; *Aff. Charlene Hoskins*, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 8, Ex. C; Appellant's Statement of Position, pg. 8. The Complaint was filed on December 4, 2017, approximately one year too late. Compl., pg. 7. The Estate's claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

# F. The Estate's Proffered Genuine Issues of Material Fact Are Irrelevant

The Estate's Statement of Position attempts to revive its claim against Stockman by creating several genuine issues of material fact. Appellant's Statement of Position, S.C. pg. 4-7. The Estate speculates that Lynn kept Robert "in the dark" regarding his personal finances. Id., pg. 7. The Estate cites to Mr. Nelson's Affidavit in support of this statement, which shows tax returns with an address for Robert in Reserve, Montana. Id. The K-1 (reported on Schedule E) relates to the Severson Family Mineral Trust. Aff. Gary Nelson, D.C. Doc. 25, ¶ 3, Exs. B & C. The Loan is in Robert's name and is entirely unrelated to the trust. See Aff. Charlene Hoskins, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶ 6, Ex. B. The affidavit of Mr. Nelson is irrelevant to the Estate's claim against Stockman. The only evidence relevant to the Loan demonstrates that (i) the account statements were mailed to Robert at his address in Saco, Montana and (ii) he did not report any unauthorized transactions on the Severson Account. Aff. Charlene Hoskins, D.C. Doc. 31, ¶¶ 8-9, Ex. C. In sum, the evidence of record is

irreconcilable with the Estate's speculative assertion that Lynn concealed the Loan from Robert.

The Estate continues to dwell on whether Robert signed the Loan. *Appellant's Statement of Position*, S.C. pgs. 4-5. This fact remains irrelevant and immaterial for the reasons cited in the briefs and Severson's Statement of Position. *See Stockman Bank of Mont.'s Br. In Res. To Pl.'s Mot. Objecting to Summ. J.*, D.C. Doc. 35, pg. 2-3; *Def. Severson's Statement of Position*, S.C. pg. 5-6.

## G. The Estate is Prohibited from Raising New Issues on Appeal for the Court's Consideration

The Montana Supreme Court does not address new arguments or changes of argument on appeal. "The rule is well established that this Court will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. McCaslin*, 2004 MT 212, ¶ 49, 322 Mont. 350, ¶ 49, 96 P.3d 722, ¶ 49. *See also State v. Bar–Jonah*, 2004 MT 344, ¶ 124, 324 Mont. 278, ¶ 124, 102 P.3d 1229, ¶ 124; *State v. Heath*, 2004 MT 58, ¶ 39, 320 Mont. 211, ¶ 39, 89 P.3d 947, ¶ 39; *State v. Peterson*, 2002 MT 65, ¶ 24, 309 Mont. 199, ¶ 24, 44 P.3d 499, ¶ 24; *State v. Weaselboy*, 1999 MT 274, ¶ 16, 296 Mont. 503, ¶ 16, 989 P.2d 836, ¶ 16; *State v. Lucero*, 2004 MT 248, ¶ 20, 323 Mont. 42, ¶ 20, 97 P.3d 1106, ¶ 20; *Ellenburg v. Chase*, 2004 MT 66, ¶ 18, 320 Mont. 315, ¶ 18, 87 P.3d 473, ¶ 18; *State v. Martinez*, 2003 MT 65, ¶ 17, 314 Mont. 434, ¶ 17, 67 P.3d 207, ¶ 17; *State v. Minez*, 2003 MT 344, ¶ 19, 318 Mont. 478, ¶ 19, 82 P.3d

1, ¶ 19; Schlemmer v. N. Cent. Life Ins. Co., 2001 MT 256, ¶ 22, 307 Mont. 203, ¶ 22, 37 P.3d 63, ¶ 22; Unified Industries, Inc. v. Easley, 1998 MT 145, ¶ 15, 289 Mont. 255, ¶ 15, 961 P.2d 100, ¶ 15. As this partial list of recent cases illustrates, this rule is firm. As the Court reasoned in State v. Adgerson, 2003 MT 284, ¶ 12, 318 Mont. 22, ¶ 12, 78 P.3d 850, ¶ 12, "[t]he rule is well established that this Court will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal.... A party may not raise new arguments or change its legal theory on appeal, because it is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." Adgerson, ¶ 12 (citations omitted).

Here, the Appellant cites Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-213 for the first time. The trial court had no opportunity to rule on the relevance or applicability of Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-213, so this Court should reject any argument relying on it advanced by Appellant.

The above notwithstanding, Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-213 would bar Appellant's claims even if the Court applied it. Appellant characterizes the Loan as being "based upon a forged signature." *Complaint*, D.C. Doc. 1, ¶ 26. Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-213 applies a three-year period of limitations to actions based upon payment by a bank of a "forged, raised, or otherwise altered . . . promissory note out

of the deposit, money, or property of the plaintiff." Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-213(2). This period begins on the date the plaintiff was notified of payment. *Id*.

Here, Stockman notified Robert of payment on January 7, 2013, by mailing him an account statement. As such, the three-year period would elapse January 7, 2016. Because Robert was dead at that time, Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-404 may operate to extend the claim until September 21, 2016. See *supra* I, (c). The Complaint was filed on December 4, 2017, approximately one year too late. *Complaint*, D.C. Doc. 1, pg. 7. Even if applied, Mont. Code Ann. § 27-2-213 bars the claim.

### H. Rule 11 Sanctions are Appropriate

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